SIT Graduate Institute/SIT Study Abroad SIT Digital Collections

Independent Study Project (ISP) Collection

SIT Study Abroad

Fall 2022

Investigating primary succession following the retreat of the Breiðamerkurjökull glacier, Iceland

Ella Roelofs SIT Study Abroad

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/isp_collection

Part of the Botany Commons, Climate Commons, Glaciology Commons, and the Terrestrial and Aquatic Ecology Commons

Recommended Citation

Roelofs, Ella, "Investigating primary succession following the retreat of the Breiðamerkurjökull glacier, Iceland" (2022). *Independent Study Project (ISP) Collection*. 3522. https://digitalcollections.sit.edu/isp_collection/3522

This Unpublished Paper is brought to you for free and open access by the SIT Study Abroad at SIT Digital Collections. It has been accepted for inclusion in Independent Study Project (ISP) Collection by an authorized administrator of SIT Digital Collections. For more information, please contact digitalcollections@sit.edu.

Investigating primary succession following the retreat of the Breiðamerkurjökull glacier, Iceland

Ella Roelofs SIT Iceland: Climate Change in the Arctic (Fall 2022) November 29, 2022

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	1
Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	2
Introduction	3
Methods	4
Study area	4
Plot selection	5
Data collection	6
Data analysis	7
Ethics	8
Results	8
Vegetation cover	8
Plant diversity	9
Plant composition	11
Plot conditions	14
Discussion	15
Vegetation cover	15
Plant diversity	16
Plant composition	16
Small-scale variability	18
Further study	18
Limitations	20
Conclusion	20
References	21

Abstract

The accelerating rates of glacier retreat around the world as a result of climate change make the study of primary succession in expanding forefields increasingly important. While this is a well studied topic in many parts of the world, little data exists specific to Iceland. This study investigated vegetation development along a chronosequence of eight time periods in the Breiðamerkurjökull outwash plain. Data was collected on percent vegetation cover, dominant species, the number of unique plant groups, and percent cover of five substrate types at 10 plots (0.55 x 0.55 m quadrats) per time period. Important findings include the fact that both vegetation cover and plant diversity increased with time since glaciation and mosses dominated cover in the majority of plots. A comparison to similar studies from around the world demonstrated that, while some patterns are consistent, local factors have important impacts on the rates, processes, and outcomes of processes of primary succession.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank everyone who helped me with my research project. Thank you to Daniel Govoni for helping me to develop my research question and conduct statistical tests. I would also like to thank Lísbet Harðardóttir for her logistical advice and support throughout the program. I am very grateful to Haukur Ingi Einarsson and all of Glacier Adventure for providing rides to Hali and Breiðamerkursandur and welcoming us at their center. I also greatly appreciate their enthusiastic support of our work and education. Thank you to my fellow SIT students Lucian Bennett-Brandt and Danny Schmiegel for their assistance in the field and to Kian McDonough for his help with bryophyte identification and statistical tests. Thank you to Kian, Faye, Danny, and Mira for peer-reviewing my work. Finally, I would like to acknowledge Vatnajökull National Park for granting me permission to conduct this research.

Introduction

Glaciers around the world are melting at rapid and accelerating rates due to anthropogenic global warming (Hugonnet et al., 2021). The retreat of glaciers exposes barren landscapes void of life, providing a unique opportunity to study primary succession, the process of ecosystem development on surfaces lacking previous biological activity (Walker & del Moral, 2003). Ever-growing glacier forelands create chronosequences that allow succession to be studied across long time scales by substituting space (distance from the glacier) for time (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Walker et al., 2010). Deglaciated land farthest from the glacier has been undergoing succession for the longest, while succession is just beginning at the newly ice-free areas closest to the glacier.

While many studies have used this method to examine the vegetation development in succession at glacier forelands around the world (including in the European Alps, Alaska, and the Andes) (Dolezal et al., 2008; Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fastie, 1995; Fickert, 2020; Frenot et al., 1998; Llambí et al., 2021; Matthews & Whittaker, 1987), fewer studies have been conducted in Iceland (Glausen & Tanner, 2019; van Leeuwen et al., 2018; Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). Iceland's glaciers currently cover about 10% of the country and are retreating at some of the fastest rates in the world (Hannesdóttir et al., 2020; Hugonnet et al., 2021). Since the end of the 19th century, Iceland's glaciers have lost 18% of their area (2200 km²), exposing new land that is now at various stages of primary succession (Hannesdóttir et al., 2020). Given the importance of local conditions in determining successional processes (Dolezal et al., 2008; Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fastie, 1995; Garibotti et al., 2011; Walker & del Moral, 2003) and Iceland's uniquely harsh climate and low biodiversity (Ministry of the Environment & Icelandic Institute of Natural History, 2001), studies specific to Iceland are important for understanding how these exposed landscapes are developing and will continue to change. Even within Iceland, local factors can lead to differences in succession between the country's many forelands.

Breiðamerkurjökull is the fastest-retreating outlet glacier of Iceland's largest ice cap, Vatnajökull, and its historical retreat is well-documented, providing a chronosequence of accurately dated time periods (Hannesdóttir et al., 2020). Although one 2012 study investigated vegetation succession and soil development at the Breiðamerkurjökull foreland to the southeast of the Jökulsárlón lagoon (Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015), this study aimed to expand on this limited existing knowledge by investigating successional processes a decade later and at the area of Breiðamerkursandur to northwest of the lagoon. By collecting data on and analyzing differences in vegetation cover, species composition and diversity, and substrate types along a chronosequence of 8 dated time periods, this study sought to 1) document successional communities and timelines for this specific foreland, 2) examine how the impact of site-specific conditions such as substrate type may affect primary succession, and 3) compare relative rates and processes of succession in this area to other forelands in Iceland and around the world.

Methods

Study area

The study was conducted within Breiðamerkursandur (N64.10°–64.13°, W16.09°–16.24°), the outwash plain of the Breiðamerkurjökull outlet glacier that extends from the Vatnajökull ice cap. The study area (black box in Figure 1) was selected in the glacial foreland to avoid the Jökulsárlón lagoon to the southwest and the mountains to the northeast. The area has a maritime climate with cool summers and mild winters (Einarsson, 1984). The mean annual temperature is ~5°C and mean annual precipitation is ~1400-1800 mm, as measured at 3 nearby weather stations (Skaftafell, Kirkjubæjarklaustur, and Höfn í Hornafírði). Both temperature and precipitation have increased since the 1900s (Table 1) (*Climatological Data*, 2012). The area is part of the Vatnajökull National Park, and land use is limited to travel associated with glacier guiding tours, all of which are confined to a dirt road and path along the northeast side of the study area.

Breiðamerkurjökull reached its maximum extent in the 1890s and began to slowly retreat until the 1930s, when it began retreating more rapidly although with some re-advancing and stationary periods (Guðmundsson et al., 2017). Rates of retreat have been highest since 2000, and the current rate of retreat is 200-300 m/yr, one of the fastest rates for glaciers in Iceland (Hannesdóttir et al., 2020; Icelandic Meteorological Office, 2018). In the study area, the glacial terminus had retreated ~5.9 km by 2019, exposing new land (Icelandic Meteorological Office, 2018).

	Skaftafell		Kirkjubæjarklaustur		Höfn í Hornafirði	
	1965-1999	2000-2021	1932-1999	2000-2012	1966-1984	2007-2017
Mean annual T (°C)	NA	NA	4.8	5.4	4.1	5.5
Mean daily max T (℃)	NA	NA	7.7	8.5	6.5	8.2
Mean daily min T (°C)	NA	NA	1.9	2.7	2.0	3.0
Mean annual precipitation (mm)	1502	1684	1683	1883	1308	1524 (2007-2021)

Table 1. General information on climate near Breiðamerkursandur in the 20th and 21st centuries at 3 nearby weather stations in Skaftafell, Kirkjubæjarklaustur, and Höfn í Hornafirði. Data is from the Icelandic Meteorological Office (*Climatological Data*, 2012).

Plot selection

The Icelandic Meteorological Office's glacier outline data was used to map the extent of Breiðamerkurjökull at eight different time periods: 1890, 1945-46, 1970-80, 1998-2004, 2007-2013, 2014, 2017, and 2019 (Icelandic Meteorological Office, 2019). In ArcGIS, consecutive GPS points were made along each outline within the study area. Ten points for each time period were then randomly selected as sample plots. If the point fell within 1 m of a walking path, 5 m of a road, or contained more than 5% water (determined in the field), another randomly selected point was selected. See Figure 1 for a map of plots.



Figure 1. Study area, historical glacial extent outlines, and plot locations. The black box represents the study area, each line represents the location of the glacier at eight different time periods in history, and dots along the lines show the locations of the 10 randomly selected plots sampled for each time period. The glacier was at the right side of the image in 1890 and has since retreated to the far left. Map created in ArcGIS with outline data provided by the Icelandic Meteorological Office.

Data collection

Data collection occurred in the last week of October 2022. Data was collected for each plot within a 0.55 x 0.55 m (0.3025 m²) quadrat segmented into 25 even squares. Percent cover of vegetation was documented in the field by visually estimating cover within the quadrat's squares. Following the Wentworth scale classifications, the percent cover of each of five substrate classes (boulder, cobble, pebble, granule, and sand or smaller) were also recorded in the field (Wentworth, 1922). To avoid disturbing vegetation, data was not recorded on substrate covered by vegetation. Percent vegetation and substrate cover estimates were both grouped into 5% intervals (i.e., 0 = 0%, 5 = 1-5%, 10 = 6-10%, 15 = 11-15%... 100 = 96-100%). Observations were recorded on the plot's slope, proximity to water, and moraine topography (i.e., whether the plot was on the top, side, at the base, or not on a moraine at all). Photographs of the full quadrat and each plant species within it were taken for later identification. Plants were identified to the nearest taxonomic group possible (species, genus, or family) using pictures and descriptions from several online resources and papers (*Flóra Íslands*, 2019; *Plants of Iceland*, n.d.; Glausen

& Tanner, 2019; Ian Atherton et al., 2010; van Leeuwen et al., 2018). Plants that could not be identified to a taxonomic group but were determined to be the same in several plots were grouped into the same unknown category. Therefore, each unknown category (i.e., unknown 1, unknown 2, etc) is most likely the same plant species or genus, with the exception of unknown group 11 which includes miscellaneous plants that were often too dead to be recognized and categorized. This allowed for measures of plant richness despite the uncertainty of species name (unknown 11 was not included in richness and diversity measurements).

Data analysis

The differences in percent cover of vegetation across the different time periods since glaciation were analyzed with the nonparametric Kruskal–Wallis test. The parametric ANOVA test could not be used because the data did not meet the assumption of equal variances and was not continuous. The nonparametric Wilcoxon pairwise post-hoc test with the Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) p-adjustment method was then used to determine which time periods differed significantly. Additionally, the dominant species in each plot with >5% vegetation cover was determined by the species with the highest percent cover from a full quadrat photograph.

Several different measures were used to compare diversity across the time periods. The number of unique plant groups per plot for each period were compared with the nonparametric Kruskal–Wallis and Wilcoxon pairwise tests to estimate differences in species richness. Diversity was also analyzed using sample size-based incidence (presence-absence) data with the 10 quadrats per period as the sampling units (Colwell et al., 2012). Rarefaction and extrapolation diversity curves were constructed with Hill numbers for species richness (q = 0), Hill-Shannon diversity (q = 1), and Hill-Simpson diversity (q = 2) using the iNEXT package in R (Chao et al., 2014; Hsieh et al., 2016; Roswell et al., 2021). This method allows a comparison of 3 measures of diversity that weigh rare and common species, and Shannon falls in between (Chao et al., 2014; Roswell et al., 2021). Hill numbers were estimated with the mean of 50 bootstrap replicates to generate 95% confidence intervals, and extrapolations were extended to a sample size of 20. Differences in diversity were determined where confidence intervals do not overlap.

Dominant substrate type for each plot was determined, excluding plots that were 100% vegetated (which had no substrate data). The differences in percent cover and number of plant

groups for different dominant substrate types were analyzed with Kruskal–Wallis and Wilcoxon pairwise tests.

Ethics

The study area was located within Vatnajökull National Park, and the park granted a research permit. No samples were needed or taken, and substrate data excluded areas fully covered by vegetation to avoid disturbance. Vegetation trampling was minimized as much as possible when walking to sites and handling the quadrat. Plants were identified as accurately as possible, but it is important to recognize the lack of previous experience, the difficulties of identifying plants in the fall/winter (some plants were dead or dormant), and the fact that identification relied on photographs.

Results

Vegetation cover

There were significant differences in vegetation cover between time periods ($\chi^2 = 62.374$, df = 7, p < 0.001), and cover increased with time since glaciation (see Figure 2). Time periods farthest apart more often differed significantly in cover, and the four most recent periods (2007-13, 2014, 2017, 2019) did not significantly differ from each other (Figure 2). Plots closest to the glacier had no or very little (<5%) vegetation, while those farthest from the glacier were up to 100% vegetated (Figure 2). However, as Figure 2 shows, there was high variability in cover for the later four time periods (periods with >10% mean cover), and standard deviations were ± 20.1, 22.7, 33.8, and 32.5% for 1998-2004, 1970-80, 1945-56, and 1890, respectively.



Figure 2. Box plot of percent cover of vegetation in quadrats for the different time periods (n = 10 for each). Significant differences (p < 0.05) are detonated with letters: cover differed significantly for time periods that do not share a letter.

Plant diversity

There were significant differences in richness (number of unique plant groups) between time periods ($\chi^2 = 57.048$, df = 7, p < 0.001). Significant differences are denoted with letters in Figure 3: time periods that share none of the same letters significantly differed in their richness. Richness increased with time since glaciation, with 2019 having the lowest mean number of plant groups per plot (1.8 groups) and 1890 having the highest (12.7 groups).



Figure 3. Box plot of the number of unique plants in quadrats for the different time periods (n = 10 for each). Significant differences exist between time periods that do not share a letter (p < 0.05).

Species diversity curves demonstrate a clear trend in increasing plant diversity from more recently deglaciated areas to areas exposed several decades ago, and differences are more pronounced when abundance is taken into account (Figure 4). While confidence intervals often overlap for adjacent time periods, this pattern as a whole holds. For example, confidence intervals for 2014, 2017, and 2019 overlap for all curves but never overlap with the 1890 intervals, nor the intervals for the latest 4 time periods when abundance is accounted for (q = 1, q = 2). The 1890 species richness intervals (q = 0) do not overlap with the 4 most recent time periods, and, when abundance is accounted for, only overlap only with those of 1945-46 (Figure 4).



Figure 4. Sample-size based rarefaction and extrapolation species diversity curves constructed from 3 Hill numbers (q = 0, q = 1, q = 2) for the different time periods since glaciation. The 95% confidence intervals (shaded areas) were obtained with 50 bootstrap replications.

Plant composition

A total of 31 unique plant groups were identified in the 80 plots, including 5 bryophyte groups, 7 graminoid groups, and 19 forbs (including 3 woody plants). Four plots had no vegetation (3 quadrats in 2019, 1 in 2017). The moss genus *Racomitrium* was present in 89% of the plots with vegetation and dominated vegetation cover in 55% of those. When *Racomitrium* was not dominant (although it was sometimes co-dominant), grasses and small forbs (often *Arenaria norvegica*) dominated in more recent time periods and dwarf shrubs (*Calluna vulgaris* and *Empetrum nigrum*) or the forb *Alchemilla alpina* dominated in later time periods. Woody plants (dwarf shrubs *Calluna vulgaris* and *Empetrum nigrum* and one unknown) were present in 9 of the 1890 plots, 7 of the 1945-46 plots, 6 of the 1970-80 plots, 1 of the 1998-2004 plots, and none of the plots for the other time periods. See Table 2 for a complete list of plant groups present in the plots.

Category	Plant Group	Time Period	Number of Plots (of 10)	Presence in Total Plots (%)
Bryophytes				
	Racomitrium spp.	$1890 \\ 1945-46 \\ 1970-80 \\ 1998-2004 \\ 2007-13 \\ 2014 \\ 2017 \\ 2019$	$ \begin{array}{r} 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 10 \\ 3 \\ 5 \end{array} $	85.0%
	Polytrichum spp. (most likely piliferum)	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13 2014	9 7 10 7 3 1	46.3%
	Ptilidium ciliare	1890 1945-46	43	8.8%
	<i>Trichostomum</i> <i>crispulum</i> (most likely)	1945-46	1	1.3%
	Unknown 1: order Hypnales (feather mosses)	1890 1945-46 2014 2017 2019	5 3 1 1 1	13.8%
Graminoids				
	Poa spp. (most likely annua)	2007-13 2017 2019	2 1 2	6.3%
	Festuca spp.	1890 1945-46 1998-2004 2007-13 2017	8 3 9 4 1 1	31.3%
	Festuca vivipara	1945-46 1970-80	1 1	2.5%
	Juncus spp.	1890 1945-46 1970-80	3 1 1	6.3%
	Luzula spicata	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13	6 4 7 6 3	32.5%

Table 2. List of all plant groups identified showing how many plots per time period and the percentage of the 80 total plots the group was found in. Woody plants are marked with an asterisk. Unknown 11 includes dead and unidentifiable plants of various types, while all other unknown groups include one type of unidentifiable plant that was found at several time periods.

Unknown 2: order Poales	1890 1998-2004 2007-13	1 1 3	6.3%
Unknown 3: order Poales	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13 2014 2017 2019	10 9 10 9 10 6 1 2	71.3%
Calluna vulgaris*	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004	3 6 4 1	17.5%
Empetrum nigrum*	1890 1945-46 1970-80	3 5 4	15.0%
Erophila verna	1890 1945-46 2007-13	3 2 1	7.5%
Plantago spp. (maritima or tubulosa)	1890 2019	2 1	3.8%
Alchemilla alpina	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2014	5 7 8 3 1	30.0%
Sedum spp. (villosum or annum)	1998-2004 2007-13	2 1	3.8%
Erigeron boreale	1890	1	1.3%
Arenaria norvegica	1998-2004 2007-13 2014 2017	2 7 5 1	18.8%
Honckenya peploides	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13	10 7 2 5 1	31.3%
Rumex acetosella	1890 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13	2 2 3 1	10.0%
Galium spp. (normanii or verum)	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13	8 2 4 1 1	20.0%

Forbs

Unknown 4 (maybe <i>Cardamine hirsuta</i>)	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004	2 3 1 1	8.8%
Unknown 5 (maybe Bistorta vivipara)	1890 1945-46 1970-80	4 1 1	7.5%
Unknown 6 (maybe Salix spp.)	1890 1945-46 1970-80	9 1 2	15.0%
Unknown 7	1945-46 1998-2004 2007-13 2014 2017	1 2 4 1 5	16.3%
Unknown 8	1890 1970-80	4 2	7.5%
Unknown 9	1890 1945-46 1998-2004 2007-13 2014 2017 2019	2 2 4 4 4 3 1	25.0%
Unknown 10 *	1890	6	7.5%
Unknown 11 (dead, misc.)	1890 1945-46 1970-80 1998-2004 2007-13 2014	7 5 5 5 1 4	33.8%

Plot conditions

Plots varied in their proximity to water and topography. The landscape was characterized by glacial streams and small pools; a few plots appeared to have been recently underwater or in depressions where rain or melt water may collect. Some plots were on the top, middle, or base of a moraine while others were not located on moraines at all. Some plots were on flat terrain while others were on slopes facing various directions. There were no clear differences in substrate cover between time periods other than that data for older periods showed <100% total cover since vegetation more often concealed the underlying surface. Pebble had the highest mean percent cover for all time periods and dominated in the majority of plots, most commonly followed by cobble. However, variability within time periods was high. Standard deviations in substrate class cover were up to $\pm 32\%$ within a period, and there were 3 outliers dominated by

sand and 1 by boulder. There were no significant differences in percent cover ($\chi 2 = 9.417$, df = 6, p > 0.05) or number of plant groups ($\chi 2 = 6.600$, df = 6, p > 0.05) with different dominant substrate types.

Discussion

Primary succession following glacial retreat at forelands around the world is a widely studied topic (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017). However, succession has been found to be highly dependent on local conditions, including climate, parent material, topography, moisture levels, nutrient availability, distance to and composition of seed sources, fauna impacts, and more (Dolezal et al., 2008; Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fastie, 1995; Garibotti et al., 2011; Walker & del Moral, 2003). Therefore, the process can vary greatly both on small scales (e.g., between the top and bottom of a moraine) and larger scales (e.g., between glacial forelands of different countries) (Dolezal et al., 2008; Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fastie, 1995; Garibotti et al., 2011; Walker & del Moral, 2003). While some general patterns found in this study are consistent with those in previous studies, others differ, demonstrating the importance of site-specific research. Additionally, comparisons to other studies can provide a way of estimating the stages and rate of succession at Breiðamerkursandur, although no conclusions can be made with certainty.

Vegetation cover

Vegetation cover increased with time since glaciation, a pattern consistent with primary succession following glacial retreat in other areas in Iceland (Glausen & Tanner, 2019; van Leeuwen et al., 2018) and around the world (Dolezal et al., 2008; Fickert, 2020; Garibotti et al., 2011; Knoflach et al., 2021; Llambí et al., 2021; Raffl et al., 2006). A similar study conducted on the Breiðamerkurjökull foreland to the southwest of Jökulsárlón in 2012 also found an increase from almost no vegetation on the youngest moraines to up to 100% cover on the oldest moraines (Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). The mechanisms that transform a newly exposed surface void of biological activity to a fully vegetated community, including seed dispersal, plant growth and reproduction, soil formation, and nutrient accumulation inherently take time to occur, so it makes sense that older areas are further along in the process of primary succession (Dolezal et al., 2008; Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017). While species compositions and the rate of succession are

location-specific, these long-term processes form the basis of succession in all landscapes (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Walker & del Moral, 2003).

Plant diversity

Plant diversity increased with time since deglaciation in this study. While this trend is supported in some studies (Fickert, 2020; Llambí et al., 2021), other studies have found diversity to increase in early successional stages, reach a maximum in middle stages, and then decline or stabilize at later stages along a chronosequence as time since deglaciation increases (Dolezal et al., 2008; Garibotti et al., 2011; Prach & Walker, 2019; Sommerville et al., 1982). The Skaftafellsjökull foreland provides an example of this: species diversity increased until a peak in mid-1900s sites and then declined at older sites (Glausen & Tanner, 2019). This pattern is explained by the fact that species accumulate early in succession as pioneers arrive and then diversity begins to level off and decline as later successional species (generally more stress-tolerant and stronger competitors for resources) outcompete pioneers and prevent new colonizers from establishing (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fickert, 2020; Frenot et al., 1998; Whittaker, 1972). Therefore, the consistent increase in diversity from most recent to latest time periods at Breiðamerkursandur may indicate that communities are further from reaching an equilibrium or climax stage.

Plant composition

Bryophytes dominated vegetation cover in this study, a finding that is consistent with other studies. Bryophytes dominated at all moraines in Vilmundardóttir et al.'s Breiðamerkursandur study and all sites in Glausen and Tanner's chronosequence study on the Skaftafellsjökull foreland (Glausen & Tanner, 2019; Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). The abundance of *Racomitrium* spp. is unsurprising given that they are pioneer species commonly found in successional communities around the world, as well as the most common moss genus in Iceland (Cutler et al., 2008; Glausen & Tanner, 2019; Ingimundardóttir et al., 2014; Knoflach et al., 2021; Llambí et al., 2021; Ministry of the Environment & Icelandic Institute of Natural History, 2001; van Leeuwen et al., 2018; Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). Many species found in this study overlapped with those found in Vilmundardóttir et al.'s, including *Poa* spp. in earlier years and *Empetrum nigrum* in later ones, likely due to the largely similar conditions in the two

adjacent areas (Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). While exact species in Iceland's forelands may be different than those found around the world, families and genus often overlapped, especially at earlier stages, which may be due to the importance of certain functional strategies for colonizing barren landscapes (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fickert, 2020). Pioneer species often have light, wind-dispersed seeds, are fast-growing, produce large numbers of seeds, and may have asexual clonal propagation strategies (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017). For instance, grasses including Poa spp. exemplify these traits and have been found to colonize forelands across the world (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Fickert, 2020; Glausen & Tanner, 2019; Llambí et al., 2021; van Leeuwen et al., 2018). As succession progresses, soil development, nutrient accumulation, and facilitation from pioneer species allow species with different functional strategies to colonize. This includes more forbs, dwarf shrubs, shrubs, and trees that are more stress-tolerant, have larger and fewer seeds, and are slower growing) (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Llambí et al., 2021). The increase in forbs and dwarf shrubs in this study exemplifies this pattern and is consistent across many locations (Cutler et al., 2008; Erschbamer et al., 2008; Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Frenot et al., 1998; Llambí et al., 2021; van Leeuwen et al., 2018).

Despite some increase in functional diversity, no true shrubs or trees were identified in this study after 130 years of succession. Vilmundardóttir et al. also noted an absence of these typical later successional species and attributed it the long distance from seed banks (Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). This is not the only location with seemingly slow succession: in the Patagonian Andes, shrubs took over after 140 years to dominate with forests not appearing until after 260 years (Garibotti et al., 2011). That being said, many locations exhibit faster succession with late successional shrubs and trees present less than a century after deglaciation (Dolezal et al., 2008; Fickert, 2020; Glausen & Tanner, 2019). The study at Skaftafellsjökull, which has also been retreating since 1890, had many overlapping species but found more tree and shrub species (willows and birch) likely due to the site's proximity to a birch woodland (Glausen & Tanner, 2019). Interestingly, however, this study's findings indicated that a low shrub-moss heath may be the climax community in this area: dwarf shrub and moss cover was highest at the oldest two sites and increased from 2007 and 2014 (Glausen & Tanner, 2019). Given that forests cover only about 1% of Iceland, and heath lands of moss, grass, and dwarf shrubs are more common, it makes sense that succession may never reach the forested climax stage that is typical in other areas (Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources, 2014). Thus, this comparison of successional stages, based on community composition, highlights the difficulties of predicting successional stages and the importance of understanding local contexts (Walker & del Moral, 2003).

Small-scale variability

In addition to successional rates varying widely across the world's glacial forelands, the process can vary at a smaller scale. Within a single foreland, patterns of succession vary even between sites that have been deglaciated for the same amount of time, again speaking to the importance of site-specific conditions. In this study, there was high variability in percent cover between plots of the same age (standard deviations of $\pm 20.1-32.5\%$ for time periods with >10% mean cover). Studies have shown that substrate texture and topography are important environmental factors influencing the course of succession and plant community composition (Dolezal et al., 2008; Garibotti et al., 2011; Marteinsdóttir et al., 2013). For example, a study on the Glacier Seco foreland in Argentina found that total cover and species richness was higher at the base of moraines than the crest or mid-slope, which was attributed to the consequent more favorable wind exposure, moisture, sunlight, soil development, and organic matter and nutrient conditions as well as effects of erosion-type disturbances on moraines (Garibotti et al., 2011; Schaller et al., 2010). While further study on the effects of moraine topography would be necessary to determine if a similar pattern exists for Breiðamerkursandur, the observed differences in moraine location, substrate type, slope, and proximity to water of plots likely explains some of the variability in vegetation cover. Although cover and diversity were not found to differ significantly with dominant substrate type, the study was not set up to specifically investigate the effect of this factor.

Further study

Further studies would be necessary to determine how small-scale conditions affect vegetation patterns within this succeeding foreland and others. The effect of substrate type could be better investigated by having an equal number of plots with each dominant substrate type. Moraine placement could be studied by having plots on the top, sides, and bottom of a moraine for each selected location. Other variable conditions such as wind, sunlight, and moisture levels could be regularly monitored to investigate their effects on vegetation development.

Many studies have investigated soil development along chronosequences of glacier retreat, including for some areas in Iceland (van Leeuwen et al., 2018; Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015), but this has yet to be done for this study's area of interest. Soil formation and nutrient and carbon accumulation allow more species to colonize and thus are essential for the development of more complex communities. Some studies have already shown that this process may be slow under Iceland's climatic conditions (over a century), and it would be interesting to further investigate this potential explanation for the seemingly slow succession at Breiðamerkursandur (van Leeuwen et al., 2018).

This study did not collect data on lichen cover, nor the presence of algae, fungi, or microorganisms that also may play important roles in primary succession, especially in the earliest stages (Garibotti et al., 2011; Garrido-Benavent et al., 2020). Fauna was also not considered, but the arrival of invertebrates has been found in many places to help facilitate soil formation (Hågvar et al., 2020). Birds and other animals may aid in seed dispersal and contribute nutrients, as has been found in other areas (Turner-Meservy et al., 2022). While this study did not investigate seed sources, dispersal methods, or surrounding vegetation, these factors may help explain the species composition that was found and give insight into what a potential stable climax community may look like in this area.

There are many receding glaciers in Iceland, and primary succession at each of their forelands is largely understudied. More work would be necessary to better understand the process in Iceland, where the cool climate and low biodiversity may impact the rates and characteristics of succession at different stages. Further study would allow a more comprehensive comparison to primary succession in other forelands around the world. Additionally, Iceland is unique in that it provides an opportunity to study and compare primary succession in two different types of new landscapes: newly exposed glacial forelands and fresh volcanic lava fields (or new volcanic islands, i.e., Surtsey). It would be interesting to compare existing (and future) studies conducted in these landscapes that have very different geologies but similar climate conditions and seed sources.

Finally, climate change is both indirectly the cause of and may have an impact on the primary succession that is currently occurring with glacial retreat. Although this is a newer area

of study, some early findings suggest that rising temperatures, changing precipitation patterns, and elevated CO₂ levels may affect successional rates and processes, and further research is necessary (Erschbamer & Caccianiga, 2017; Kaufmann, 2002).

Limitations

As suggested by the further study section, this study was limited in scope. It was confined to a single glacier foreland and collected data on only a few aspects of succession (vegetation cover and plant species), leaving many variables uninvestigated. While data analysis with this sample size did produce significant differences, more plots would have been included had time allowed. One of the main limitations of this study was the high uncertainty in species identification. The time of year (late fall) meant that many plants were dead or dormant. This difficulty was compounded with a lack of previous experience with identifying Icelandic flora, especially bryophytes. Therefore, many plants could not be identified or could only be identified to the family or genus level, and even these identifications have not been confirmed. Identifying plants to different taxonomic levels and grouping unknown but like plants allowed for data on the number of "unique plant groups," but it is important to note that the groups contained varying levels of similarity amongst their members. This grouping strategy also helps to explain why this study found fewer distinct plants than other studies that identified the species level (Glausen & Tanner, 2019; Vilmundardóttir et al., 2015). The data on the number of unique plant groups were used to calculate "species" diversity measures, but it is important to recognize the improper use of these indices and remember that the results do not actually refer to species.

Conclusion

This study used a chronosequence approach to investigate vegetation patterns of primary succession following glacial retreat at the Breiðamerkurjökull foreland. The data showed that both vegetation cover and plant diversity increased with time since deglaciation, findings consistent with other similar studies and the existing understanding of the succession process. A comparison of these patterns and plant composition data to studies in other glacial forelands in Iceland and around the world demonstrated the importance of local conditions. While this comparison allowed some inferences to be made about rate and stages of succession at Breiðamerkursandur, nothing could be concluded with certainty. Small-scale variability within

the data also highlighted the importance of site-specific conditions (such as moraine topography) to vegetation development, prompting ideas for future research.

The accelerating rates of glacier retreat around the world make the study of primary succession at growing forefields an increasingly important topic. As new land emerges, so do new questions. What factors affect how these landscapes develop over time? Do climate changes affect processes of primary succession? How long does it take for these barren landscapes to become productive, carbon sequestering ecosystems? How will these new areas of land be used by organisms and humans? Therefore, while glacier forelands present unique opportunities for studying succession, it will also be important to consider how humans will use, impact, and interact with these new landscapes and ecosystems.

References

Chao, A., Gotelli, N. J., Hsieh, T. C., Sander, E. L., Ma, K. H., Colwell, R. K., & Ellison, A. M. (2014). Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: A framework for sampling and estimation in species diversity studies. *Ecological Monographs*, 84(1), 45–67. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0133.1

Climatological data. (2012). Icelandic Meteorological Office. https://en.vedur.is/climatology/data/

- Colwell, R. K., Chao, A., Gotelli, N. J., Lin, S.-Y., Mao, C. X., Chazdon, R. L., & Longino, J. T. (2012). Models and estimators linking individual-based and sample-based rarefaction, extrapolation and comparison of assemblages. *Journal of Plant Ecology*, 5(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpe/rtr044
- Cutler, N. A., Belyea, L. R., & Dugmore, A. J. (2008). The Spatiotemporal Dynamics of a Primary Succession. *Journal of Ecology*, *96*(2), 231–246.
- Dolezal, J., Homma, K., Takahashi, K., Vyatkina, M. P., Yakubov, V., Vetrova, V. P., & Hara, T. (2008). Primary Succession Following Deglaciation at Koryto Glacier Valley, Kamchatka. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, 40(2), 309–322. https://doi.org/10.1657/1523-0430(06-123)[DOLEZAL]2.0.CO;2

Einarsson, M. A. (1984). Climate of Iceland. World Survey of Climatology.

Erschbamer, B., & Caccianiga, M. S. (2017). Glacier Forelands: Lessons of Plant Population and

Community Development. In F. M. Cánovas, U. Lüttge, & R. Matyssek (Eds.), *Progress in Botany Vol.* 78 (pp. 259–284). Springer International Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1007/124_2016_4

- Erschbamer, B., Niederfriniger Schlag, R., & Winkler, E. (2008). Colonization processes on a central Alpine glacier foreland. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 19(6), 855–862. https://doi.org/10.3170/2008-8-18464
- Fastie, C. L. (1995). Causes and Ecosystem Consequences of Multiple Pathways of Primary Succession at Glacier Bay, Alaska. *Ecology*, 76(6), 1899–1916. https://doi.org/10.2307/1940722
- Fickert, T. (2020). Common Patterns and Diverging Trajectories in Primary Succession of Plants in Eastern Alpine Glacier Forelands. *Diversity*, 12(5), Article 5. https://doi.org/10.3390/d12050191
- *Flóra Íslands*. (2019). http://floraislands.is/index.html

https://doi.org/10.1186/s13717-019-0165-9

- Frenot, Y., Gloaguen, J. C., Cannavacciuolo, M., & Bellido, A. (1998). Primary Succession on Glacier Forelands in the Subantarctic Kerguelen Islands. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 9(1), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.2307/3237225
- Garibotti, I. A., Pissolito, C. I., & Villalba, R. (2011). Spatiotemporal Pattern of Primary Succession in Relation to Meso-topographic Gradients on Recently Deglaciated Terrains in the Patagonian Andes. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, 43(4), 555–567. https://doi.org/10.1657/1938-4246-43.4.555
- Garrido-Benavent, I., Pérez-Ortega, S., Durán, J., Ascaso, C., Pointing, S. B., Rodríguez-Cielos, R., Navarro, F., & de los Ríos, A. (2020). Differential Colonization and Succession of Microbial Communities in Rock and Soil Substrates on a Maritime Antarctic Glacier Forefield. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, *11*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00126
- Glausen, T. G., & Tanner, L. H. (2019). Successional trends and processes on a glacial foreland in Southern Iceland studied by repeated species counts. *Ecological Processes*, 8(1), 11.
- Guðmundsson, S., Björnsson, H., & Pálsson, F. (2017). Changes of Breiðamerkurjökull glacier,
 SE-Iceland, from its late nineteenth century maximum to the present. *Geografiska* Annaler, 99(4), 338–352.

- Hågvar, S., Gobbi, M., Kaufmann, R., Ingimarsdóttir, M., Caccianiga, M., Valle, B., Pantini, P., Fanciulli, P. P., & Vater, A. (2020). Ecosystem Birth near Melting Glaciers: A Review on the Pioneer Role of Ground-Dwelling Arthropods. *Insects*, *11*(9), Article 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects11090644
- Hannesdóttir, H., Sigurðsson, O., Þrastarson, R., Guðmundsson, S., Belart, J., Pálsson, F.,
 Magnússon, E., Víkingsson, S., & Jóhannesson, T. (2020). A national glacier inventory and variations in glacier extent in Iceland from the Little Ice Age maximum to 2019. *Jökull*, 70, 1–34. https://doi.org/10.33799/jokull.70.001
- Hsieh, T. C., Ma, K. H., & Chao, A. (2016). iNEXT: An R package for rarefaction and extrapolation of species diversity (Hill numbers). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 7(12), 1451–1456. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12613
- Hugonnet, R., McNabb, R., Berthier, E., Menounos, B., Nuth, C., Girod, L., Farinotti, D., Huss, M., Dussaillant, I., Brun, F., & Kääb, A. (2021). Accelerated global glacier mass loss in the early twenty-first century. *Nature*, *592*(7856), Article 7856. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-021-03436-z
- Ian Atherton, Sam Bosanquet, & Mark Lawley (Eds.). (2010). *Mosses and Liverworts of Britain and Ireland: A Field Guide*. British Bryological Society.
- Icelandic Meteorological Office. (2018, July). Overview of Icelandic glaciers at the end of 2017. Icelandic Meteorological Office, The Institute of Earth Sciences, University of Iceland and the Southeast Iceland Nature Centre.

https://en.vedur.is/media/Eplican%C3%A1mskei%C3%B0/VAT_newsletter_2018_06.pdf

Icelandic Meteorological Office. (2019). Jöklavefsjá. https://joklavefsja.vedur.is/#/page/map

- Ingimundardóttir, G., Weibull, H., & Cronberg, N. (2014). Bryophyte colonization history of the virgin volcanic island Surtsey, Iceland. *Biogeosciences*, 11. https://doi.org/10.5194/bg-11-4415-2014
- Kaufmann, R. (2002). Glacier foreland colonisation: Distinguishing between short-term and long-term effects of climate change. *Oecologia*, *130*(3), 470–475. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-001-0815-2
- Knoflach, B., Ramskogler, K., Talluto, M., Hofmeister, F., Haas, F., Heckmann, T., Pfeiffer, M.,
 Piermattei, L., Ressl, C., Wimmer, M. H., Geitner, C., Erschbamer, B., & Stötter, J.
 (2021). Modelling of Vegetation Dynamics from Satellite Time Series to Determine

Proglacial Primary Succession in the Course of Global Warming—A Case Study in the Upper Martell Valley (Eastern Italian Alps). *Remote Sensing*, *13*(21), Article 21. https://doi.org/10.3390/rs13214450

- Llambí, L. D., Melfo, A., Gámez, L. E., Pelayo, R. C., Cárdenas, M., Rojas, C., Torres, J. E., Ramírez, N., Huber, B., & Hernández, J. (2021). Vegetation Assembly, Adaptive Strategies and Positive Interactions During Primary Succession in the Forefield of the Last Venezuelan Glacier. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, *9*. https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fevo.2021.657755
- Marteinsdóttir, B., Thórhallsdóttir, T. E., & Svavarsdóttir, K. (2013). An experimental test of the relationship between small scale topography and seedling establishment in primary succession. *Plant Ecology*, 214(8), 1007–1015. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11258-013-0226-6
- Matthews, J. A., & Whittaker, R. J. (1987). Vegetation Succession on the Storbreen Glacier Foreland, Jotunheimen, Norway: A Review. Arctic and Alpine Research, 19(4), 385–395. https://doi.org/10.2307/1551403
- Ministry for the Environment and Natural Resources. (2014). *Iceland: The Fourth National Report to the Convention on Biological Diversity*. https://www.cbd.int/doc/world/is/is-nr-04-en.pdf
- Ministry of the Environment & Icelandic Institute of Natural History. (2001). *Biological Diversity in Iceland: National Report to Convention on Biological Diversity*. https://www.cbd.int/doc/world/is/is-nr-01-en.pdf
- *Plants of Iceland*. (n.d.). Natural History of Iceland Site. Retrieved November 28, 2022, from http://www.iceland-nh.net/plants/index.html
- Prach, K., & Walker, L. R. (2019). Differences between primary and secondary plant succession among biomes of the world. *Journal of Ecology*, 107(2), 510–516. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2745.13078
- Raffl, C., Mallaun, M., Mayer, R., & Erschbamer, B. (2006). Vegetation Succession Pattern and Diversity Changes in a Glacier Valley, Central Alps, Austria. *Arctic, Antarctic, and Alpine Research*, 38(3), 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1657/1523-0430(2006)38[421:VSPADC]2.0.CO;2

Roswell, M., Dushoff, J., & Winfree, R. (2021). A conceptual guide to measuring species

diversity. Oikos, 130(3), 321-338. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.07202

- Sommerville, P., Mark, A. F., & Wilson, J. B. (1982). Plant succession on moraines of the upper Dart Valley, southern South Island, New Zealand. *New Zealand Journal of Botany*, 20(3), 227–244. https://doi.org/10.1080/0028825X.1982.10428492
- Turner-Meservy, C., Vilmundardottir, O. K., Lal, R., & Gísladóttir, G. (2022). Soil chemical properties in glacial moraines across a chronosequence influenced by avifauna and volcanic materials: Breiðamerkurjökull, Iceland. *Catena*, 209(2). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.catena.2021.105836
- van Leeuwen, J. P., Lair, G. J., Gísladóttir, G., Sandén, T., Bloem, J., Hemerik, L., & de Ruiter, P. C. (2018). Soil food web assembly and vegetation development in a glacial chronosequence in Iceland. *Pedobiologia*, 70, 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pedobi.2018.08.002
- Vilmundardóttir, O. K., Gísladóttir, G., & Lal, R. (2015). Between ice and ocean; soil development along an age chronosequence formed by the retreating Breiðamerkurjökull glacier, SE-Iceland. *Geoderma*, 259–260, 310–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geoderma.2015.06.016
- Walker, L. R., & del Moral, R. (2003). Primary Succession and Ecosystem Rehabilitation. Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511615078
- Walker, L. R., Wardle, D. A., Bardgett, R. D., & Clarkson, B. D. (2010). The use of chronosequences in studies of ecological succession and soil development. *Journal of Ecology*, 98(4), 725–736. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2010.01664.x
- Wentworth, C. K. (1922). A Scale of Grade and Class Terms for Clastic Sediments. *The Journal of Geology*, 30(5), 377–392.
- Whittaker, R. H. (1972). Evolution and Measurement of Species Diversity. *Taxon*, 21(2/3), 213–251. https://doi.org/10.2307/1218190